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This book is for the devotee since only he or she can fully appreciate the love
and beauty contained in its pages. The cynical reader will certainly find much
to doubt, and he or she will see only a series of coincidences. The pure in
heart, those who have much love for God, know that on one hand His grace is
the greatest mystery and on the other, it is revealed in the simplest of everyday
occurrences.

Many people -- family mérgiis, wholetimers and especially the past and present
trainees of Sweden training center -- know that a printed story is no substitute
for the inspired dharmashdstra of Ddd4 Dhruvdnanda. The inspiration lies not
in how he tells the stories but rather in how he himself exemplifies those very
fine qualities expressed within them -- devotion, surrender, full faith in Bdbd
and more.

The storiés in the first part of this book he selected for their inspirational and
educational value. They are roughly arranged in chronological order, but many
stories from one person were kept together. With a few necessary exceptions,
names and.places have been included for historical interest and accuracy. In
many of the stories, the words of Bdbd are expressed in quofation marks;
however, these should not be treated as literal quotations but rather as the spirit
of what Bébd said. The dreams and Ddd4d's poems in the second and third parts,
respectively, add a more intimate dimension to what is a very simple and
personal book.
The Editors
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Author's note to the first edition

B4b4 is so great. In otah and protah yoga, He is connected with
each and everybody so it is surely impossible to fully describe His
merits in words. This book is not history or a biography; nor is it
even a comprehensive collection of the experiences of many devotees.
Nowhere in this book have I written about His enormous contribution
to literature, to spiritual and social philosophy, to Neo-humanism and
to the overall collective welfare of humanity. I am sure the time will
come when many devotees will write about Him and His great works.
This book is only the experiences of a few devotees in their personal
lives under the silent love and care of B4b4.

The stories in this book are fact. Most of the persons concerned
are known to me and told me their stories directly. The experiences of
the people who are not personally known to me, I collected from
reliable sources.

Devotees like to hear stories about Bdbd and many have inspired
me to write down these memories and publish my poems. I have not
planned this book. The credit lies with His persistent devotees. I give
my thanks to them all, especially the following people: Ac.
Shraddhdnandadddd, Ac. Tadbhavdnandajii, Ac. Dhyaneshdnandajii,
Brcii. Kirand Ac. and Brcii. Amalind Ac.

Author's note to the second edition

The first edition of Bdbd Loves All was written in only five or six
days. It could have been bigger, but I could not take more time for it
then. In that edition there were stories of some senior mdrgiis and
non-mdrgiis close to Bdb4d who were also in close contact with me. I
also included some stories from my personal experience. By the middle
of 1990, I already had the plan to write another book with the rest of
the stories I knew; but due to my bad health, that project was barely
started when Bdb4d made His departure.

For this edition, I decided to withdraw all my personal stories so
they could be published separately. This decision was based on-one



dddd's expressed wish that I would compile my experiences into one
volume. That book will be published simultaneously. To make good
the deficiency left in this volume, I have added more stories told to me
by the people who have felt Bdb4d so strongly in their lives. Ac.
Vijaydnandadd4d4 had encouraged me in December 1990 to publish
these additional stories soon -- "before they can be lost from your
mind." For this suggestion, I give him my deep thanks.

I chose this title because Bdb4d was always helping everybody --
non-mdrgiis as well as mérgiis. He even felt pain for those suffering
under negative pratisaincara as a result of their own actions. The
philosophy of Neo-humanism is not expounded in this book, but the
experiences of the devotees written here prove that Bdbd Loves All.
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PREFACE

In this visible, crude world, all that we are perceiving, all
discernable coqceptions, we receive through our five jinanedriya or
sensory organs ; and we are rgceiving reflections of all these through
the five fundamental tanmdtras®. But not everything in this manifested
universe is perceivable. There are many things which are so subtle they
can naf be apprehended by our senses. Ks'iti, Apa, Teja, Marut,
Vyoma~, -- only these can be known by the sensory organs. The
unseen, unfelt, exquisitely subtle things -- these our organs fail to
receive, these the tanmdtras fail to transmit even; thus the mind has no
chance to perceive them in its usual way.

However, the mind can grasp many things directly, without the
help of any organ, when it reaches a very subtle state. Proper
intuitional practice can make a mind very subtle, and so the sincere
practitioner can see the unseen and know the unknown with intuition.
Material science, on the other hand, regards more information about
matter which is received through material instruments and physical
senses.

~ Three forces arg always working in this universe -- static,
mutative and sentient’. The static force takes an entity toward
crudification and death; the mutative force has more vital force and
brings dynamism; the sentient force brings aesthetic development and
pushes it toward the supra-aesthetic stratum. These forces work both in
the visible sphere and in all the invisible layers of mind, though not in
the realm of pure consciousness. All three are working everywhere,
but the relative degree of each one is proved by the appearance of the
object or the performance of the entity. i

The spiritual practitioners develop the sentient quality of their
minds and make their minds clearer and clearer, purer and purer. They

1 They are caks'u, karn'a, ndsikd, jithva and tvaka, more commonly called eyes,
ears, nose,tongue and skin.

2 Shabda, sparsha, ripa, rasa and gandha, or sound, touch, form, taste and smell.

3 The solid, liquid, luminous, aerial and etherial factors, respectively.

4 Termed tamah, raja and sattva, respectively.



develop their intuition and expand their mental jurisdiction until the last
moment when they reach the culminating point. Their progress
continues as long as they are visualising Parama Purusa and reaching
up to Him. The spiritual path is a mysterious path, and those who have
not started the journey will not understand the secret which the spiritual
aspirants know. Parama Purusa is also a very enigmatic entity, beyond
material knowledge, beyond the vision of the materialists.

When, by sincere spiritual practice, devotion grows in the mind
of a spiritual practitioner, only then Parama Purusa Himself kindly
comes into the reach of the aspirant. He is omnipresent, omniscient
and omnipotent, so He can do everything for His devotee. But this is
hard to understand for the person who is not on the path of devotion or
spirituality.

Bédb4 said, "I was a mystery, I am a mystery, and I will ever
remain a mystery.” His devotees know that it is true. Because they
have tried to know the mystery, God, the most unfathomable entity,
kindly brought Himself before His devotees in physical form and
revealed some of His cryptic qualities. Having seen a glimpse of His
infinite mystery, they could not leave Him, and they could not stop
singing His glory; and so they sing His song, "B4b4d Ndma Kevalam."

For the devotees, B4db4 is the pole star of their lives. B4b4 is the
life of their lives, the soul of their souls. Without Him, without His
ideation, without Him in their vision they are like fish without water.

Dhydnamulam' gurumurtti, pujdmulam’ guru padam
Mantramulam’ guru vékyam', moks'a mulam' guru krpd

The most mysterious personality, the Supreme Consciousness,
who came on this dusty Earth with His grace, appeared before His
devotees to show them a glimpse of Brahma and to liberate them from
Bhavasdgara, the ocean of sam'skdra. We, His devotees, want to see
that Tdraka Brahma, Shrii Shrii Anandamuirtiji, day and night, in our
work and in our dreams. We want to worship His feet forever; we
want to follow His word for all time; and we want to do His dhydna in
all the moments of our lives. He is our final shelter; He is the Supreme
Guru of this univyerse.

Devotees of our beloved guru, Shrii Shrii Anandamuirtiji, have in
their lives seen the divine and omnipotent qualities in His presence and
in His actions. This small book gives only a few examples from a few
devotees. To know Him more one must read other books by His
devotees and those books written by Himself.

xii



PREFACE TO THE SECOND EDITION

The Divine Entity, who came before us in physical form as
Tdraka Brahma, has left his physical body in this mundane world. The
Supreme Consciousness, Parama Purusa, who is guiding and leading us
on the spiritual path as our Father, Mother, Teacher and Friend,
inspiring us day and night, helping us with His hard and pauseless work
and teaching us to make one universal family, has suddenly withdrawn
Himself from His physical form. Still He is before us. He is a living
entity. He is the pure consciousness hvmg in all moments in our hearts
and reminding us of His teachings. He is encouraging us to go ahead
on our path which we have chosen -- the path of "Atmamoks’drtham,
Jagqdahitayaca" (Self-realisation and Service to Humanity). Though
He has withdrawn the physical body, still His devotees perceive His
physical form all around them all the time. He is the immortal entity
and ever visible. On the occasion of His great departure from physical
shape we offer our deepest love, gratitude and homage to Him. We
will always be for Him, work for Him and keep in our minds that His
mission is Him.

xiii
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This is the hill beside the Jamalpur reservoir where Baba used to sit and play
flute while a student of standard VIII.

The site where Baba used to meditate on a small jetty attached to the hill while a
student of standard VIII and IX.



The old tamarind tree beside the reservoir where Baba used to sit and meditate
while a student of standard IX.

The famous Railway high school where Baba studied and passed the
matriculation examination.



The holy site where Baba used to sit for meditation after 9th standard
examination. This is the holy place where the famous Nath yogii Praviira Nath
became Siddha. This place was surrounded by three big palmyra trees.

This is the famous Tiger’s Grave in the big field where Baba used to sit during
His evening walks with the visiting margiis. Actually this was His most favourite
place for meeting the devotees after the site pictured on top of this page.




The famous water spring from which Baba used to collect water to drink.
Sometimes while seated in the Tiger’s Grave, He sent persons to collect water
from this spring. The water spring is still there and lots of people gather water

from here even today.

Jamalpur railways quarters at Rampur colony where Baba lived during the last
days of His official career. From here He signed from His service and went 1o

Ananda Nagar.



T'he summit of the Jamalpur hill where Baba used to meet many sadhakas and
eminent social workers. Baba mentions this hill in His short story on Viresh
Vijay Basa Mallik and Sindhu Bhaeravii raginii.

This is the famous Death Valley of Jamalpur where Baba used to go and sit
under the tamarind tree. Baba had a number of mystic realisations here in His
younger days. He used to pay frequent visits to this Death Valley in His youth.



In 1963, not long after I was initiated, I attended a social segvice
camp in Indas village in the Biirbhum district of West Bengal. There I
heard this story from the senior Acdryas:

A young boy was meditating as he waited for the train in
Kirn'dhdr station in Biirbhum district. There was also one avidyd
tdntrik waiting there. When the boy had finished meditation, the avidy4
tdntrik approached and began talking to him in such a way as to
convince him of the benefits of avidyd tantra. The boy was
strong-minded, and he told the man that he already had the best guru.
The avidy4 tdntrik felt insulted, and, as he sat on the train, he became
more and more angry. By the time he had reached his destination he
had resolved to kill the boy That evening he sat in his special dsana
and directed his mental power toward the boy many miles away. The
boy was sleeping on his cot, and the avidy4 tdntrik could see him, but
his mental force could not touch the boy -- it was as if a shield
surrounded him. Then he saw that at each of the four corners of the
bed stood the beautiful figure of a person wearing spectacles. Again he
tried to strike at the boy with his mind but failed. Then he understood
that this boy was not an ordinary boy and that he was protected by a
great power. The following day the avidyd tdntrik visited the boy's
home, told him of the previous night's events and begged his
forgiveness. The boy asked him to describe in detail the figure which
was protecting him. The boy listened to the description; then he told
the avidy4 tdntrik, "This is my guru, Anandamirtijii."

* * s % * * * ¥ *

About the same time, I heard the following story from
Vijaydnandad4d4. In 1963, he was working in Calcutta (Calcutta). One
high school teacher had heard about Ananda Mdrga and was quite
interested. He came with his seventeen year-old daughter to see D4d4
for more information. After he had listened to D4d4, he wanted
initiation. D4d4 told him, "You have been practising mesmerism. You
will have to stop that before I give you initiation." The man responded
that he wanted to keep both practices. D4dd would not agree, so the
man left disappointed.



Still the man had the desire to learn. He and his daughter soon
came again. However he still refused to stop the hypnotism, so Ddd4d
still refused to initiate him. The teacher was very offended, so he
gathered himself together and tried to mesmerize D4d4. But his power
had no effect on Ddd4; D4dd remained calm and quiet.. Rather, the
teacher began to feel some reaction himself. His daughter saw that his
eyes became strangely bigger, his hands started to tremble, his mouth
opened and started expanding, and he began to utter unintelligible
sounds. In the same moment, the owner of the house passed outside
the room, and he too saw the same things.

After some time, when the man came back to normal, he asked
D4d4, "Why did you do this to me?"

D4ddd replied, "I didn't do anything to you. I just sat here. As
you were applying your force on a Vidy4 tdntrik, it could do no harm.
Rather it reacted on you." With the meditation which B4b4 has given
us, if we practise it sincerely, no hypnotist, no Avidy4 tdntrik can harm
us. Our mantra and our faith in our guru will automatically protect

us.
* * * * * * * * *

In the beginning of 1964, I was posted at Laheridsardi, Bihar.
There, some mdrgiis and workers told me about one woman from
Darbhanga district. She had been initiated into Ananda M4rga; and she
had much faith in Bdb4 and was sincere in her practices. Unfortunately
her husband did not like her practising yoga and ordered her to stop.
But she did not want to stop and so continued her practices despite her
husband's persistent interference. Her husband was so enraged that she
regarded her Guru more than him that he finally poisoned her.
However, the poison could not kill her or do much harm at all.
Instead, rather, the husband soon went mad and required medical
treatment. Afterwards he was very repentant, thinking that his insanity
was the resuit of his own wickedness, and he never offered any
opposition to her yoga practices after that. The woman felt sure the
Guru had been protecting her and supporting her determination to be a
good spiritualist. She felt His grace very deeply.

* * %* A* * ok * %* *

In late 1964 I was posted at Jdmdlpur, the place where Bdbd
spent most of His life. There I got to hear many stories from the
Mirgiis and non-Mdrgiis who had known Him so personally.

When B4b4 was just born, His family named him Arun'a because
He had been born at dawn. The first miracle was not long in coming.



The family had gathered around to see him take his first drink of milk.
They were starting to feed Him like any newborn, one drop at a time,
when suddenly Arun'a took up the whole cup in his little hands and
began to drink like any fully-grown person. His family was too
astonished for words.  His grandmother came the closest to
understanding. She said He was not like a baby, but instead was like a
"bur'd"”, or an "old man'.

Afterwards Arun'a received the name Prabhdtrainjan, the name
which was later to become known to millions. As a young boy, He
lived at Jdmdlpur's Keshavpur ward with His father, Laks'miindrdyan,
His mother, Abhdrdn'ii, and His sisters and brothers. He used to like
to wander in the evenings in the hills east of Jdm4lpur. In those days,
the hills were thickly forested; many wild animals, including tigers and
hyenas, lived there. Woodcutters would go there in the daytime to earn
their living, but they generally left the jungle well before dark. One
such woodcutter was a neighbor of Laks'miindrdyan Sarkar. One when
day he was working in the woods, he thought he heard the sound of a
large animal passing some ways away. Looking around cautiously, he
was shocked to recognize little Prabhdtrainjan, his neighbor's son,
riding on the back of a tiger.

Though these stories are very familiar to most Mdrgiis, to many
they may seem too fantastic to be real. Nevertheless, they are true.

e * * #* * * * W L]

Once I went to Bamunpard, B4b4d's original home in Burdawan,
West Bengal. There I talked with some members of His grandparents'
families. One thing they told me was that, "Never in His childhood
was Prabh4t taking meat or fish or eggs. He never wanted to. He
could not even tolerate seeing fish being cut." '

Devotees who are not familar with the Indian culture and social
structure may not be impressed by this story at first. I should explain
that members of B4b4d's family were not expected to be vegetarian. No
one instructed the little Prabh4t about the proper sentient diet. Working
on His own inner knowledge, He had to defy the traditions of His
father's family, while still showing respect for His elders. That He, as
a little boy, could do this, shows again what a unique child He was.

%* * *# * * * * * %

It was a great privilege to be near Bdbd's family, especially
B4b4's mother. She was a very loving and respectable lady. One day I
wanted to know something about B4b4 from her. She said, "You are



His disciples, He is my son. You, the disciples, know better. I know
nothing about Him." Still I requested her to tell at least something
about Bdb4 because she was His mother. She told me not to tell Bdb4.

First she told me how one day while Bdb4 was leaving Ranchi by
car with some mdrgii brothers, including His bodyguard and His driver,
the car was passing a big jungle, and B4db4 suddenly asked the driver to

“stop the car. He opened His door and hurriedly entered the jungle.
The brothers were surprised and quickly followed. They could hear
someone crying loudly, "B4b4, Bdb4, save me, save me!"

Bdbd moved towards the caller, and the mdrgiis heard Him say,
"Leave him! Leave him!" They found that the caller was a man
surrounded by live snakes, but at B4b4d's command the snakes
immediately left. Then the man ran to Bdbd and threw himself into
Prostration (sds t’dunga pran'dm). B4b4 rebuked him saying, "You
have done many crimes and now you are getting pumshment from
nature! You shouldn't be excused! But now I am excusing you. Wlll
you do such crimes again in this life?"

The weeping man replied, "No, no, Bdb4, I won't commit any
more crime. I will do good." The man left, and B4bd and the
astonished mdrgiis returned to the car.

B4b4's Sam'skrta teacher loved Him very much because He was
so intelligent and eager to study. The teacher's wife was also close to
Bdbd's mother. They were good friends, and the teacher's wife
frequently visited Bdbd's house. On one occasion she was telling
Bdbd's mother how she had been absent at the time of her mother's
death. "Oh! I am so unlucky that I was not with her when she died. If
I had at least one chance to see my mother, then I would be very
happy.”

Bdbd heard this and asked His mother, "M4, you ask her: if she
sees her dead mother, will she become afraid? If she wants, I can do
that."

When the lady heard B4b4's proposal she immediately agreed and
said, "Yes, I am eager to see my mother.”" Then B4bd called her into a
room and asked again if she would be afraid if her mother appeared
physically in the room. She replied that she would not. So B4b4 gave
her the chance then and there to see her late mother. He caused the
woman to appear, seated on a boat. After some time B4bd asked her if
she had seen her. She replied, "Yes."

"Now you are satisfied?"

"Yes," she replied.

"So now you may go," B4b4 told her kindly.



Once Bdbd's mother said to me, "Dhruvdnanda, all my sons are
very intelligent. You can test them. Now Bubu is here (Bubu was her
pet name for B4dbd), He is extraordinarily intelligent. If I ask Him
anything which He learned in His boyhood then He will repeat it
without missing a word." To demonstrate her point she asked Bdb4 to

recite one lengthy poem to me. Bdb4 began to recite one very long

poem. When He finished she commented, "You see, in boyhood He
learnt it, and He remembers everything word by word! My sons are
very intelligent!"”

Many times she would say, "Dhruvdnanda, you are a disciple,
you and the brothers know Him well. As a mother I cannot recognise
Him, but He has some power because thousands and thousands of
people are coming before Him, so there is some power surely. But I do
not know what that power is. You know more, devotees know more."
Once she said a similar thing to a mdrgii brother from Jdmélpur named
Rdmchandra. He asked her to tell him something about B4b4, but she
did not say much. "Regarding Bubu I cannot tell you many things. But
I can say that when so many people come from so far to see Him,
surely there is some god-like quality in Him."

Once B4bd approached His mother, like the obedient son He was,
to ask her permission to attend a DMC. - "M4, General Secretary is
asking if I will address the DMC. May I go?"

His mother agreed and also said, "I would like to meet your
General Secretary to tell him that Bubu will not ask personally " give
me this food and that food' or tell when and what to give. So you be
sure to serve Him."

So Bibd always respected His mother very much and worked
only with her permission and, at the same time, B4bd's mother was
taking very good care of her son who, although grown-up, would not
demand food from anybody.

* * * * % * * * *

At Jdmdlpur there is a senior mdrgii sister named Pratibhd. She
was very close to Bdb4's mother, and she told me the following stories:

Once B4b4's mother went to visit some relatives, so she left B4bd
in charge of keeping the house and looking after His younger brothers.
She left adequate food for several days. Bé&bd advised His younger
brothers to eat only the fruits and other raw foods, "because raw foods
have more vitamins."

When she returned, she saw that most of the vegetables had not
been eaten, and she asked the children why they were fasting. "No, we




are eating”, they replied, "but Ddd4 said fruits are better, so we are
only eating fruits."”

B4b4's mother thought, and Pratibhddevii and 1 agreed, that
B4b4's main purpose in not cooking was not to have more vitamins but
to save time for more important work.

0 * * ] * * % L *

A similar story comes from about the same period in B4bd's life.
All the children in His family helped with the chores around the house,
but one day B4b4's mother noticed that it was always Kandid4, B4b4's
second brother, going out to do the shopping. Though he was doing a-
good job, B4bd's mother got the notion that Babd should also
sometimes go. She said, "Bubu, why don't you ever go shopping?
Why is your brother always going?”

Béb4 said, "I am ready to go. If you want to send me, send me."
B4db4d's mother sent Him to the market with some money, a list and the
instructions, "Try to buy good quality things." When He returned, she
was quite pieased with the different items; but when she asked for the
change, He said, "Oh, but in order to buy such things, I have spent ali
the money which you gave me." The next day she sent Him again in
the same way, but this time she said, "Try to save money." B4b4
returned later and was able to bring back much change, but wheh
Bdb4d's mother saw the goods, she was very dissatisfied with their
cheapness. The next day Kandid4 went to the market, and B4bd went
back to His own work.

One can understand these stories better if one knows a comment
B4dbd once made to the workers: "You know, when I was in class VI{
and VIII, T was already drawing up all my plans for the ERAWS
department.” So B4db4's wise use of time during his youth had very big
effect later on.

B4db4's mother performed worship each day, but according to
common Hindu practice and not to the Ananda Mdrga process.
Pratibhddevii told me that B4b4's mother would often see B4db4 mentally
during her worship. One day B4db4's mother asked Bdb4, "When I do
woship, why do I often see you?" Bdb4 replied, "M4, perhaps you love
me very much, that's why you see me."

1 Education, Relief and Welfare Section of Ananda Marga Pracdraka Samga
(Central).



B4bd's youngest brother, Mdnasd4, was also very close to me.
One day, I and some other mdrgii brothers were asking -him about
B4b4. He told us how Bdbd would never expend any amount of money
for Himself. The salary from His job was all deposited in His mother's
hands, and she used to give Him a very small fraction of it. But even
that much Bdbd did not expend. He never purchased anything in the
market; all His food was from home. Afier many years, when the
ERAWS started to do relief work, B4b4 gave donations to the
organisation out of this money he had saved. In 1965 I was working at
the Ananda Mdrga school at Jdmdlpur, and one day at the opening
ceremony of a Children's Home, Bdb4 proposed to start a nursing home
and gave me a substantial donation to begin the pro_]ect This very
much inspired all the mérgiis, who said they would also give donations.
I began the nursing home, and B4dbd continued to gl\e donations in
different places, and mﬁrgus were also inspired to give donations for
schools, homes and relief work.

B4db4 did not misuse a single paise of the small allowance given
to Him by His mother. He always thought of the mission first and
never of His own needs. This supreme example must inspire us to
forget ourselves and to work more and more.

* » * % * * * & *

Nrpen Chattopddhydya was a non-mdrgii hvmg at Rdmpur
Colony, Jdmdipur, where Bdb4 too had lived at one time in His life.
Shrii chattopddhydya was the editor of a Bengali magazine. Some
mirgiis told me that he could tell me some stories about B4bd, as they
had been schoolmajes and playfellows before. When I met h1m he told
me how Prabhdtd4” was very courageous in His childhood. Sometimes
on holidays He and the other boys would go to JAmdlpur Mountain, just
east of the town in the Rdjmahal Range. They would climb the hill and
enter the forest. If the other boys felt a little scared, Prabhdtd4 would
say, "Come! Come with me. Don't be afraid. When I am with you,
don't be afraid.” Especially on the holidays, they would move far into
the forest. On the way He would tell them different stories about the
history and geography of the area. "One day He showed us one place
and said that the famous sage, Rs'yashrunga muni was doing meditation
here." He further said that even from His childhood, He was showing
the depth of his knowledge.

1 In B4dm'ld "d4", a shortened form of “d4d4", is often put at the end of a man's
first name to show affectionate respect. Many non-mérgiis of JAmélpur called
Bébé "Prabh4td4" out of true love and regard for Him.



One day I was doing collection for the Children's Home at
J4mdlpur's Rdmpur Colony, and I came to the house of a non-mdrgii
who was acquainted with Bdb4d. His impression had also been of the
depth of Bdbd's knowledge. He said, "Never in my life have I seen
such a scholar of Sam'skrta!"

* W DT * * * * * #

Bdbd was always intelligent and conscientious. Even from His
childhood, if He saw a defect in a person, He would find a tactful way
to change his/her character for the better.

At one time in His student life, B4dbd was staymg in a hostel.
One boy there was known to be very greedy, and he never shared any
of his special food with the other students. The other boys were always
eating all together whatever nice food came from their homes, but this
boy never gave anything though he certainly had plenty. One day some
of the students told B4bd about his character: B4b4d advised them, "One
time when he is out, go and take whatever he has, but be careful to
make it look like some little animal came and ate everything. If you do
it one time, it should be enough.”" When the boy came back, he was
quite dismayed to have lost all his food, but because it had been done in
such a way, he could not say anything. However, afterwards he was
always careful to share nicely.

* * * * * * * * *

This following story I also heard when 1 was working at
Jdmdlpur. I think many people might have heard it by now, but for
those who don't know it, it is worth repeating:

When B4db4 was working as a sub-head in the accounting section
of Jdmdlpur Railway Workshop, He was well-known for His ability to
read palms. He had given thorough instruction in palmistry to two of
his colleagues -- Shyamal Sen and Tapan Kumar. Additionally, He had
made a name for himself by his ability to tell the past, present and
future without even seeing the palms. In those days most of the railway
officers were Englishmen, and they also-knew about Mr. Sarkdr's
talent.

One day, one officer approached Him. Distressing news for him
had just come from England. His wife, who was supposed to come to
India soon, had become seriously ill. The doctors could not diagnose
her ailment positively, but they thought they would have to remove her
kidney, a very major operation at that time. Seeking reassurance this
gentleman came to Bdb4. B4b4 told him, "There is no need to worry.
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No major operation is needed. She can be cured by a simple
operation." He felt much relieved.

When his wife had recovered, she joined him at Jdmdlpur. Out
of courtesy and appreciation, he invited B4b4 to a tea party to introduce
Him to his wife. His wife was very much surprised when she saw
Him. She said, "This is the very doctor who advised the other doctors
not to perform the major operation. On his advice I was saved." Now
her husband was surprised: Mr. Sarkdr had not taken any leave. How
could He have gone to England, and as a doctor? The Englishman
realized that this was no ordinary man, but a great personality, a great
yogii, who was just keeping Himself hidden as an ordinary person.

At the time when I was principal of the Ananda Mdrga school at
Jdmdlpur, a lady came to meet me to discuss the admission of her child.
Eventually the discussion came around to the topic of Bdbd. "You
people come from far and wide to see your B4b4, while we, His
neighbours , don't recognise Him," said Mrs. Sen of Rdmpur Railway
Colony, Jdmdlpur. "Though I don't know much about your B4dbd, my
eldest son had one experience with Him, though he isn't a mdrgii. My
son is a devotee of the goddess Kdlii, but he had the habit of following
your B4b4, tagging along at some distance behind Him and the group of
mdrgiis when they went out for a walk. My husband and I would
sometimes tell him not to do this, but he continued to follow your B4b4
up to the field near the hill. One day when he came back we
reprimanded him, saying, * What have you found in Him?"

' "My son replied, “Today I have found a great thing in Him; He
is not a man, He's Ndrdyan'a. I saw Him stand in the field in His
white effulgence, holding His shaunkha, cakra, gad4d and padma
(conch, wheel, cudgel and lotus.)' So from my son's experience I
understand that your Bdbd is not an ordinary man; He is something
great."

* * * * * * %* %* *

Pratibhddevii came first to Bdbd to have her palms read; He
solved her problem without looking at her palms or asking any
question. Later, in 1962, she came to Him as a disciple and a devotee.
Her whole family -- her mother and her children -- are devotees of
B4bd. She told me many stories that suggest how He always knows
what is in our minds.

From earlier in her life, Pratibhddevii had the habit of
performing 4rati -- a ritual of waving candles and incense before the
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altar. Once when she had just returned from the 4shram, one of her
daughters said to another, "You see, Mother's prejudices still haven't
gone. She still does all those rituals."

Pratibhddevii replied, "For you people to tell me this is t00
much. It isn't that one has to give up everything when one is initiated
into Ananda Mdrga. It's not like that. I can still do 4rati if I like."

The next day she went to general darshan. That day B4b4 spoke
on "Piij4, Arcand and Stuti" (Worship, Ritual and Eulogy). He said,
“Just imagine if you were a god and someone brought a hot candle
close to your face and waved it around -- you would complain and say,

* Oh, it's burning me, it's burning me!" And would you not feel afraid?
Yes, you would feel afraid. The deity also feels uneasy. And, for you,
a big bunch of incense is unbearable. The deity will also be troubled
by the smoke. If you feel much discomfort, the deity also will feel
uncomfortable. " ;

Pratibhddevii whispered to another sister there, "Didi, I was
doing this thing also. Just yesterday I did." :

Then B4b4 said to her, "Yes, I am talking to you. Why did you
do this?"

“T won't do it again, B4b4," she said "You see, I am catching my
ears."

* ¥ * % * * * * %

One day, one dddd was singing for Bdbd. Pratibhddevii told him
afterwards, "Dd4d4, you people are lucky, because you get to sing so
much just in front of Bdb4." The dddd said, "Why don't you people
ever sing?"

"If my luck is good, I can sing before Bdb4," she said and went
back to her house.

It was a Sunday, so Bdbd would come again that afternoon.
Mentally she prepared to sing one Hindi song: "Tum D4ni Ho... (You
are kindheart2d and generous; I am a poor beggar)." She even checked
her pronunciation with one sister, Godé4barii, from Rewa, M.P.

B4b4 came that afternoon, and the dddds were singing. Then
B4db4 asked in the local language, which was both His and Pratibhédi's
mother tongue, "Are there any more singers?" Pratibhddevii started to
sing. Then she sang another song in Bdm'gla, "Ydr Ldgi Tor Pardn
Kénde... (For whom your heart is crying, that is God)."

After B4b4 left, the d4d4 came up to her and said, "So you see,
your luck is good!" But both of them knew that it was not luck at all,
but His gracious love.
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At one time, Pratibhddevii was feeling much pain because Bdbd
was spending much time with the dadds, and she and the other sisters
had to wait outside. Everyday she was thinking that she wouldicomplain
to Bdb4d, "You opened the door to dddds and not to us." But she never
told Him this. One Saturday, she really planned to tell B4db4, "What
mistake have we made?" But before she could, Bdb4 passed right by .
her and asked, "How are you today, little girl?"

She said, "Everything is alright, B4b4." Then B4b4 went in.
Then she decided to tell Him when He was leaving, but again she
couldn't. Then she told her daughter Jhumu, "Today also I did not tell
Him. I will tell Him next Saturday."

The next Saturday, again B4db4 called the d4d4s first, and she and
another sister were standing outside in the corridor. She said, "Are we
the capable children of B4b4 that He will call us? B4b4 calls those who
are fit." Immediately after she said that, one d4d4 came out and said to

s, "Bdbd is calling you.'

When they went in and sat in the room, B4b4 said, "You see,
before Paramdtm4 there is no question of fit or unfit."

Pratibhddevii understood Bdbd's message, but at first she could
not understand how Bdbd knew so fast. She thought someone had
reported her words to Bdbd. She was very embarrassed and wondered
what Bdbd would think of her.

After Bdbd left, she was talking to the sister, saying, "When I
was talking to you earlier there, which ddd4 heard and reported us to
B4db4 so fast? What was the need of telling Him?" The sister only
smiled.

Once when Bdb4d was in Bombay, Pratibhddevii and her family
went there too. Pratibhddevii bought a garland from the market which
she wanted to give to Bdb4d. She took it to the place where Bdb4d was
staying. Many people had already arrived, so she was standing in the
rear. She held up the garland and mentally told Bdb4, "I want to give
this to You personaily. If You personally do not accept it, theén you'll
see some fun begin."

7 She was standing there like that, but whenever B4bd's attendant,
Ac. Rédmthanukijii, came by, she would duck down and hide.
(Customarily Bdb4's attendant would Simply take the garland on B4bd's
behalf and give it to Him later.) This was repeated many times. She
would stand and address B4db4d mentally when Rdmthanukijii couldn't
see her, and sneak away when he could.

’
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But when he did finally catch her, all he said was, "Do you want
to give this garland to B4db4? Okay, come. You can give it to Him."
Pratibhddevii could hardly believe her ears. What made His attendant
behave differently that day? Joyfully she went up and put the garland
around Bdb4d's neck, then did pran'dm at His feet.

When Pratibhddevii's youngest daughter, Purn'im4, was four or
five years old, she would sing before B4b4, "Tumi ho m4td, pitd tumi
ho (You are the mother, You are the father)". Everyday she was
singing, and B4b4 was listening. One day B4b4 said to her, "Acch4,
dcchd. Well, well, I am satisfied. Now let us talk a little." But she
kept singing. The dddds took her to the kitchen and gave her some
sweets. Still there she kept on singing.

One day she said she would give garland to Bdb4. She prepared
the garland and went to give it to Him. She said, "Bdbd, I'll give You
a garland."”

B4b4 said, "Well, you can give it to me," and reached to take it.

But she said, "No. I'll put it around your neck myself."

B4b4 said, "But how will you do that? I am sitting up and high,
and you are quite little."

She said, "Oh, Lord! What's this, what's this? Everyone gets to
give You garland and not me! B4b4, You must take it."

Bdb4 said, "But how will you reach me? I am up and high."

She answered, "Bend down Your head." Then Bdb4d bent His
head, and she put her garland on Him.

Then wagging her finger she said, "I'm telling You that You
have to wear that all the way home. Don't take it off here." Bdbd
wore His garland throughout the rest of darshan. As He was leaving, it
was still around His neck, and He was holding it with both hands.

Pratibhddevii had not been at that darshan, but another mdrgii
sister came to her right afterwards and told her, "You see, B4db4 loves
your daughter. Piirn'im4 told Him that He would have to go back with
it, and B4b4 was going with it."

Pratibhddevii was wondering, if it was true. Then she ran to His
house, where people had been waiting for Bdbd. Some were still
around outside, and she asked if B4b4 was wearing the garland when
He came home. One of His family members said, "Yes, He came with
it. We noticed it, because He doesn't usually wear a garland when He
" comes home. Today He was, though, holding it with both hands."
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Pratibhddevii's mother is also a mdrgii and a devotee of Bdb4.
One time she had to go to the hospital because she had broken her leg.
All the time she was being carried there by stretcher, she sang kiirttana,
and her children and grandchildren sang kiirttana also

She had to undergo surgery the next day. Afterwards, she still
felt very, very weak and .dazed, and she told her grandson, Shambhu,
that she was dying. He sat down for meditation then and there, and in
his meditation he saw Bdb4 standing by the head of his grandmother's
bed. He forgot his fears, and when he later told his grandmother what
he had seen, she also was no more afraid. She made a strong recovery.

Pratibhddevii told me one story she had heard about how to serve
God. In the Indian tradition, the first food is reserved for the god. But -
that should not be a reason not to give food to a hungry person. We
sometimes make prasdd for Babd, and others do the same for their
deities, and before this portion is offered, we usually don't give the
food to anyone else. But sometimes this is followed so blindly, people
do not really follow the spirit of the practice.

One day, one mdrgii brother of Calcutta invited Bﬁbé to his house
on the occasion of his son's naming ceremony. At first B4bd said,
"Why do you people disturb me? Where can I go?" But as the brother
was requesting earnestly and repeatedly, B4b4 finally agreed.

When the day came, many people were cooking all kinds of food
at the mdrgii's house. Then one old man came to the house and said, "I
am very hungry, please give me some food.to eat."

One member of the family said, "Now you go somewhere else
for food. After twelve o'clock, come back here. If you come here
after twelve, we'll give you many kinds of food."

: Again the man said, "I'm very hungry; please, give me

something." They repeated their previous argument, "We're telling
you, if you come back after twelve, you can have much food." But the
old man did not go away; he stayed waiting by the door. Then they
gave him two rupees, "Here. Go and buy something in the market for
yourself." The old man went away.

At one o'clock, the dddds went to meet Bdbd and bring Him to
the brother's house, but Bdb4d would not open the door. After calling
some time, A'c. Rdmdnandajii went inside. He said, "Bdb4, they have
come, and they are waiting for you.” B4bd made no response. Dé4d4

went out. Then B4bd himself came out, and all the mdrgiis ran up
saying, "Come, come!" and the host himself came forward.
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B4b4 said, "Why have you people come? Whom do you want?
The two rupees you gave, those two rupees you take. Are these the
two rupees?”

Then everyone was surprised and felt that surely it was B4b4 who
had come in the form of the old beggar.

We can hope here that Bidb4d wanted to show that service to the
poor is service to Him. Maybe, that is why He did this. From that day
she heard this story, Pratibhddevii also followed the same thing. First
she offers the food mentally to the Lord, and then next to the poor
people..

e * * * * * * * *

Ac. Harapras4djii was a m4rgii since 1950 and a family 4c4rya
too. In 1989, his daughter was married to B4bd's son, Kim'shuk. He
said that B4db4d had said that his daughter's future had been selected
thirty years before, though she herself was only twentysix or so. I

asked Haraprasddjii to tell me of his experiences with B4b4, and he told
me many good stories. In these stories, there are many examples of
how B4b4 brought devotees to Him in miraculous ways, and how B4db4
spread His miracles through His devotees. The touch of B4b4 brings
profound and beautiful changes, not just to those around Him, but also
to the many others around them.

In 1948, Haraprasddjii joined the Jﬁmélpur Railway Workshop.
Though he did not work in the Accounts section himself, he often went
there on his break time to see his friends. He was not much acquainted
with Prabhdtdd, as everyone was calling B4b4 then. Then one day
Bdb4 called him over to ask about one co-worker from Haraprasddjii's
boarding house who had been absent. As He was talking to him,
Haraprasddjii noticed that He was looking at his forehead for quite
some.time. He asked B4b4, "What do you see on my forehead?"

“No, it's nothing. Whatever has happened, don't think about it.
Let the past be the past." Then He told him, "You have already
committed suicide." And He told him a date in the near future when he
would die.

Haraprasddjii couldn t understand why He said that -- "What was
this about suicide?"” Then B4bd said, "There are three things you think
about too much. Out of these three things, I'll tell you about the
second and third. As for the first, I know, but I want you to say it for
yourself." :

After saying that, He said two things that were on Haraprasddjii's
mind, and everything He said was correct. Then regarding his death,
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B4b4 said, "You don't have to worry about it. Since you have come in
touch with me, I'll do the necessary arrangements."

Haraprasddjii thought, "If at all my death is ordained, what can
He do? He looks like just an ordinary, simple man in His shirt and
dhoti. What power could He have that could save me? Anyway, I
have no anxieties about death."

Then B4b4 told him one date and said that on that day, at such
and such time, in such and such place, "You will meet me."

They were supposed to meet in a place near Kdliipdhdr'. On that
day the office work ended at four, and Haraprasddjii was going home.
As he was going back, the idea of his death was churning around in his
mind. "Perhaps it could be true. After all, He told the two other
things correctly.” In this way, he reached the boarding house with his
mind ill at ease. Generally at night he never went out, and he had
forgotten that he would have to go for this appointment. Then that
evening, he left the boarding house without telling anyone. He did not
even know- why. Following a vague desire, He went to the railway
institute. He saw B4b4 there; He was reading a newspaper in the
reading room, but He didn't look up. Then Haraprasddjii realised that
this was the person who had said that they would meet that day. Then
he thought, "I won't go. I'll wait to meet him by day. It's already
around eight or eight-thirty. I'm supposed to meet him on the mountain
at hight, but I don't know anything about him or his character. I
haven't told anybody where I am gomg, and the hills are covered with
dark forests, so anything could happen."” Thinking this he left.

He thought he was going to the boarding house, but suddenly he
saw that somehow, without his own knowledge, he had gone straight to
the place of the appointment instead. He arrived and saw Bdbd was
already there.

It was May 18th, probably 1950. It was Vaeshdkhii Piirn'im4.
In the sky, clouds were covering the moon, so sometimes it was dark,
sometimes light. From the top of the hill, Haraprasddjii could see the
lights of the colony in the distance. He felt afraid. He thought, "Why
did I come? What am I doing here?" :

The first thing B4bd asked him was, "Why do you have such a
desire to follow the spiritual path?" Haraprasédjn hadn't told Him
anything about this yet, but he had thought about it. Then B4b4 led him
down to the field, to a place where there were three palm trees. There
they sat down and B4b4 started to give the yogic explanation of the
Giita. In one hour Harapras4djii learned the whole Giita very easily;
he felt that everything in his heart became clear.
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Then B4db4 started to talk about casteism, and He gave the
different arguments against casteism — "God has no caste, and we are
all His children. All five children of one father have the same caste. If
you yourself are the child of the Supreme Father, then all are the
children of the Supreme Father. All the creatures of this Earth are His
children, so have a brotherly relation with all things. If you want to do
His meditation, yot'll have to break all feelings of castism and leave
the vanity of your caste."

Then Harapras4djii said, "I have no such dogma of caste in my
mind."

So B4b4 said, "Okay, then sit in padmdsdna, follow what I tell
you and try to think in the same way. First, take the sacred thread off
from around your neck."

When He said this, Haraprasddjii felt his first misgivings:
"Maybe He thinks I have a weak mind, but He still can't harm me due
to my sacred thread. As it is here maybe He cannot harm me, but if He
takes it, maybe He will be able to hurt me. Nobody knows I'm here.
If He kills me here, no one will know." So he said, "I give you my
word. I'll take off this thread, but not here."

Then B4b4 said, "Now what nonsense?" Then He gave different
logical reasons to convince him. Finally He exclaimed, "What things
you are thinking!" Then He touched his head and moved it slightly.
His touch went through Harapras4djii like an electric current, and all
his doubts and suspicions were washed away. The next moment,
without hesitation he took off his thread and put it in His hands. Badb4
took it, chanted mantra and threw it away. Then He gave him the
process of sddhand. After getting the mantra, Haraprdsdjii got into
such a state that he lost his senses, and he knew nothing of what
passed.

When he regained his senses, it was midnight. He saw Bdb4
sitting in front of him in padmdsdna. Then B4b4 said, "Let's go back,
and I'll take you to your lodgings,” and He led him back.
Harapras4djii felt that he himself was God. Whatever he saw, he felt
that it was the expression of God. No other feeling was there. As he
walked, he could see everything clearly -- even things far away. Bdbd
took him to the boarding house. He saw that the others were asleep.
They had kept some food for him, but he could not eat. He went to
bed, but he could not sleep. In his mind was only this feeling that he
was God. He was pacing around the room like a madman. He could
not understand what was happening. Sometimes he would go and do
dhydna on the roof. He spent the whole night like that.
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In the morning his friends were joking with him, but he was not
able to respond. Only tears would come from his eyes. He would
write down what he wanted to say, but he was not talking at all. He
wasn't feeling any appetite. He was not feeling sleepy. He was absent
from the office. Two or three days passed in this way. Everyone was
wondering what had happened to him. After some time they thought
that he swallowed something strange and somehow went crazy. Many
people were concerned about him, especially the fathers who were
hoping to get him as a son-in-law.

One of these gentlemen was trying to get help from
Haraprasddjii's friends at the boarding house. One day there was
Satyandrdyan'a pijd, and he invited all of the boarders. The main
reason for this was to bring Harapras4djii there; otherwise they never
all went out together. The other boarders all went, and they tried to
make him come too, but he only replied, "I am Ndrdyan'a, and I can
accept the pujd from here."

After all had gone, B4b4d abruptly appeared. He came from
downstairs. He said, "Let's go up." They went and sat on the roof.
B4b4 said, "As long as I am here, no one will come here, and you can
ask whatever you like with an open heart." B4b4 asked, "Are you
having any trouble? Tell me."

Haraprasddjii told Him, "No, no; no troubles. Rather immense
bliss. I am sinking in that bliss. It's only when people disturb me that
I have trouble.”" Then B4db4 asked several things, and he answered.
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